Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-26-2020

Satter v. Idaho Transporation Department Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48120

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the arresting officer accurately gave the information required pursuant to Idaho Code §18-8002A and *Virgil v. State*, 126 Idaho 946 (App. 1995).
- 2. Whether advising the Petitioner what "show why" is equivalent to "show cause why" as required by Idaho Code §18-8002A.
- 3. Whether the hearing officer's decision was made upon unlawful procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2019, Petitioner Ryan Satter was pulled over by Officer Andrew Fox of the Lewiston Police Department for suspicion of DUI. Record, at 10. Petitioner performed the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, the Walk and Turn test, and the One Leg Stand test. R., at 42-44. Afterwards, Petitioner was placed in Officer Fox's car where he was read the I.C. §18-8002A form. Officer Fox made a mistake while reading to the Petitioner Paragraph B of the I.C. §18-8002A form. R., at 44-46. The form reads, "You have the right to an administrative hearing on the suspension before the Idaho Transportation Department to "show cause why" you failed the evidentiary test and why your driver's license should not be suspended. R., at 4. Instead, Officer Fox read, "you have the right to an administrative hearing on the suspension before the Idaho Transportation Department to "show cause why" you failed the evidentiary testing and failed to pass the testing and do not..."R., at 45. Officer Fox starts over and reads, "You have the right to an administrative hearing on the suspension before the Idaho Transportation Department to "show why" you failed the evidentiary test and why your driver's license should not be suspended." R., at 45. Petitioner then failed the breath test and was put under arrest for DUI. R., at 11, 48.

1 On November 8, 2019, Petitioner requested a hearing before the Idaho Transportation
2 Department pursuant to I.C. §18-8002A. R., 15-19. A telephone hearing was held on November 27,
3 2019, where the hearing was supplemented with Exhibit I which was a transcript by the offices of
4 Clark and Feeney and Exhibit J which was the DVD recording of Officer Fox advising the Petitioner
5 as hereinafter stated. The Hearing Officer held that Officer Fox correctly said, "show cause why",
6 that I.C. §18-8002A does not require a verbatim reading, that the later omission of the word "cause"
7 did not have the same impact as in other cases, so Petitioner was properly advised. R., at 58-61.
8 Petitioner's license was suspended for ninety days. R., at 61.

9 STANDARD OF REVIEW

10 Idaho Code §67-5240 provides that a proceeding by an agency that may result in an order
11 being issued is considered a contested case and is subject to the provisions of the Idaho
12 Administrative Procedure Act (IDAPA). A hearing under I.C. §18-8002A results in an "agency
13 action" and is therefore governed by the IDAPA. The IDAPA governs the review of Idaho
14 Transportation Department decisions that deny, cancel, suspend, disqualify, revoke, or restrict a
15 person's driver's license. *Bennett v. State Dep't of Transp.*, 147 Idaho 141, 142, 206 P.3d 505, 506
16 (Ct. App. 2009).

17
18 In an appeal from the decision of the district court acting in an appellate capacity under the
19 provisions of the IDAPA this Court reviews the agency record independently from that of the district
20 court's decision. *Druffel v. State Dep't of Transp.*, 136 Idaho 853, 855, 41 P.3d 739, 741 (2001). The
21 factual determinations made by the agency are binding on the Court, even when there is conflicting
22 evidence before the agency as long as these determinations are supported by substantial evidence in
23 the record. *Id.* "A court may overturn the decision of an agency where the findings, inferences,
24
25

1 conclusions or decisions: (a) violate statutory or constitutional provisions; (b) exceed the agency's
2 statutory authority; (c) are made upon unlawful procedure; (d) are not supported by substantial
3 evidence in the record; or (e) are arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion." *Bennett*, 147 Idaho
4 142.

5 **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

6 The Petitioner was not properly advised of the information required under I.C. §18-8002A.
7 When Officer Fox re-read the advisory form to the Petitioner, he changed the statute by omitting the
8 crucial word of "cause" from this re-reading. The term "show cause why" carries with it a higher
9 level of legal significance than simply stating "show why." The Petitioner was not adequately
10 advised of the information contained within the statute after Officer Fox re-read the statute. Thus,
11 he may seek to challenge his suspension on these grounds. The Idaho Department of Transportation
12 was in error when it held that Officer Fox correctly advised the Petitioner. The Petitioner asks the
13 Court for judicial review of the district court's decision while it was acting in its appellant capacity
14 over the Idaho Department of Transportation's Order. The Petitioner also asks that the Court vacate
15 the Petitioner's license suspension.
16

17 **ARGUMENT**

18 The Petitioner argues that he was not properly advised of the consequences and ramifications
19 of refusing or failing the evidentiary testing as required under I.C. § 18-8002A. The Petitioner also
20 argues that the Idaho Department of Transportation was incorrect when it held that he was advised
21 properly.
22
23
24
25
26

I. THE ARRESTING OFFICER FAILED TO GIVE THE PROPER INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER I.C. §18-8002A.

1 Officer Fox failed to properly advise the Petitioner of his rights and requirements under I.C.
2 §18-8002A when he incorrectly re-read the paragraph B of the Notice of Suspension of Evidentiary
3 Testing Form.
4

5 Idaho law requires that the information in I.C. §18-8002A requires a strict adherence to the
6 statutory language. *Virgil*, at 126 Idaho 947. The Idaho Supreme Court has emphatically refused to
7 allow the interjection of judicial gloss upon the legislature's license suspension scheme. *Id.* The
8 statute explicitly requires that at the time of the evidentiary testing the person shall be informed
9 substantially of the ramifications for refusing to submit to or failing the evidentiary testing. I.C.
10 §18-8002A(2). The statute plainly requires that the person to be tested be informed that they have
11 the right to request a hearing to "show cause why" they decided to either refuse to take the
12 evidentiary testing or failed the evidentiary testing. I.C. §18-8002A(2)(b).
13

14 While reading the Notice of Suspension of Evidentiary Testing Officer Fox incorrectly stated
15 that the Petitioner would need to show why rather than stating that the Petitioner would need to show
16 cause why he failed the evidentiary testing.
17

II. SHOW WHY IS A LOWER EVIDENTIARY BURDEN OF PROOF THAN THE REQUIRED SHOW CAUSE WHY.

18 When Officer Fox was reading the instructions and requirements laid out in I.C. §18-18002A
19 to the Petitioner he gave the Petitioner incorrect information regarding refusal. By stating that the
20 Petitioner need only "show why" he failed the evidentiary testing instead of the correct form of
21 "show cause why;" Officer Fox incorrectly advised the Petitioner that a showing of a lower
22 evidentiary burden of proof was required to justify why he failed the evidentiary testing.
23
24
25
26

1 The court in *Virgil*, dealt with a similar issue to the issue in our case there the officer stated
2 that I.C. §18-8002A(2)(b) required the person who refused to take the evidentiary testing to simply
3 "explain why" they decided not to take the testing and that this showing would be sufficient.
4 However, as the court agreed the term "explain why" created a lower evidentiary burden of proof.
5 One that was below the standard required of "show cause why;" this phrase denotes a legal
6 justification or proof which was not accurately conveyed when the Officer stated, "explain why."
7 *Virgil*, at 948.

8 The term "cause" when referring to the statute I.C. §18-8002A envisions the term to mean
9 something more than any reason. The driver must establish cause as a sufficient magnitude that
10 would show the suspension of the license would be unjust or inequitable. *Matter of Griffiths*, 113
11 Idaho 364, 371-72, 744 P.2d 92, 99-100 (1987).

12 "Show why" as stated by Officer Fox in our case is similar to "explain why" in the *Virgil*,
13 case both of these phrases fail to properly articulate the correct higher evidentiary requirement that
14 the statute requires in the form of "show cause why." By failing to correctly advise the Petitioner
15 by stating "show why" instead of "show cause why", the Petitioner was not properly advised of his
16 rights and requirements under *Griffiths*, and I.C. §18-8002A.
17

18 **III. THE DECISION RENDERED BY THE ADMINSTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER**
19 **WAS MADE UPON UNLAWFUL PROCEDURES.**

20 The hearing officer determined that even though Officer Fox incorrectly re-read I.C.
21 §18-8002A the mistake was not impactful. A claim that the advisory by the officer was incomplete
22 does not require the Petitioner to establish that this incorrect advisory was detrimentally relied upon.
23 *Cunningham v. State*, 150 Idaho 687, 693, 249 P.3d 880, 886 (Ct. App. 2011). The court citing the
24
25
26

1 decision in *Kling v. State*, 150 Idaho 188, 245 P.3d 499 (Ct. App. 2010) stated that just like the
2 decisions in *Virgil, Beem, and Griffiths*, "contradictory information provided in an advisory renders
3 that advisory incomplete." *Cunningham*, at 693.


4 Officer Fox incorrectly advised the Petitioner of the requirements under I.C. §18-8002A. The
5 way that Officer Fox read the advisory form to the Petitioner was a deviation from the statutory
6 language. As Idaho law has established through *Virgil*, the statutory language in I.C. §18-8002A
7 must be strictly adhered to. Officer Fox's reading of the form was a deviation from the statutory
8 language required and thus invalidated the form. Therefore, the decision of the hearing officer to
9 suspend the Petitioner's license was incorrect and based off of an invalid advisory form.

10 CONCLUSION

11 The Petitioner was not properly advised by Officer Fox of the requirements under I.C.
12 §18-8002A when he incorrectly provided information to the Petitioner. The advisory by the Officer
13 was incomplete as he provided contradictory information which rendered the advisory incomplete.
14 The statute requires a strict adherence to the statutory language, Officer Fox failed to follow this
15 requirement when he advised the Petitioner of the information on the advisory form. Therefore, the
16 Petitioner's license suspension should be vacated because the Officer's reading of the form did not
17 accurately inform the Petitioner of the statutes requirements.
18

19 DATED this 26 day of October, 2020.


21 CLARK and FEENEY, LLP

22 By 
23 Paul Thomas Clark, a member of the firm.
24 Attorneys for Petitioner
25