Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-4-2020

Satter v. Idaho Transporation Department Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48120

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. SATTER WAS SUBSTANTIALLY INFORMED OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF REFUSAL AND FAILURE OF THE TEST

Satter argues that the court should reverse the decision of the District Court because Satter was not accurately informed of his rights prior to the evidentiary testing. First, he argues that the advisory was not accurate. Second, he argues that stating that “to show why” was not convey the correct legal standard of “to show cause why”. For the reasons discussed herein, the arguments are without legal and factual merit.

Here, the officer read the advisory to Satter. ¹During the relevant portion of the reading, Officer Fox stated:

“... You have the right to an Administrative Hearing on the suspension before the Idaho Department of Transportation Department to show cause why you failed the evidentiary testing and fail to pass the testing and do not.... Okay, I’m going to start over. You have the right to an Administrative Hearing on the suspension before the Idaho Transportation Department to show why you failed the evidentiary test and why your license should not be suspended....”

R., Exhibit J. As noted, Officer Fox correctly advised Satter of the standard on the first reading (“to show cause why”), then omitted the word “cause” on the second re-reading of the advisory. As such, Satter was substantially informed of the language found in Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2).

¹ The driver’s attorney transcribed parts of the audio recording and the relevant reading by the officer is located on page 8 of the transcript. *See Ag. Rec., Ex. I, page 45.*

Idaho Law. Idaho law requires that when a person is requested to take an evidentiary test the person must be advised of their rights. Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2). But Idaho law provides that the person shall be “substantially” informed and that he “need not be informed verbatim.” Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2) provides the following.

Information to be given. At the time of evidentiary testing for concentration of alcohol or for the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances is requested, the person shall be informed that if the person refuses to submit to or fails to complete evidentiary testing, or if the person submits to and completes evidentiary testing and the test results indicate an alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code, **the person shall be informed substantially as follows (but need not be informed verbatim):**

* * *

(b) You have the right to request a hearing within seven (7) days of the notice of suspension of your driver's license **to show cause why** you refused to submit to or to complete and pass evidentiary testing and why your driver's license should not be suspended;

Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2). (Emphasis added). As previously stated, the information contained in Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2) was read to SATTER.

In Idaho, a Section 18-8002A license suspension must be vacated if an officer fails to inform the licensee of certain information, as required by the statute, prior to evidentiary testing. I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(e); *Bell v. Idaho Transp. Dep't*, 151 Idaho 659, 664, 262 P.3d 1030, 1035 (2011); *State v. Kling*, 150 Idaho 188, 192, 245 P.3d 499, 503 (Ct. App. 2010). Here, there is no dispute that in the advisory read to Satter contained all the information contained in Idaho Code Section 18-8002A(2). Therefore, the information read to Satter complied with Idaho law.

Idaho Code Section 18-8002A and judicial decisions preclude suspension of a driver's license if the officer does not strictly comply with the statutory directives concerning the advisory information to be given to motorists when a BAC test is requested. There are several

Idaho cases which have vacated a license suspension because the police officer (verbally or by way of a faulty verbal advisory) provided the driver with inaccurate information.

In *Cunningham v. State*, 150 Idaho 687, 249 P.3d 880 (Ct. App. 2011) the officer verbally conveyed incorrect information to the driver which did not comport with Idaho Code Section 18-8002(3). The Court of Appeals explained the facts in *Cunningham* as follows:

The officer in this case provided a written advisory form and played a recording for Cunningham, which conveyed the information required under the statute. However, in response to Cunningham's questions regarding the consequences of refusing testing, the officer repeatedly asserted that, if Cunningham refused to cooperate, he would lose his driver's license for one year, without exception. In addition, in response to Cunningham's question regarding whether he could obtain an additional evidentiary test, the officer stated that Cunningham had to wait until he bonded out of jail to obtain such a test. Finally, the officer reiterated that, if Cunningham refused to cooperate, he would lose his chance to prove his innocence. Based on the recording of this exchange and the officer's testimony at the hearing, the magistrate determined that the officer conveyed incorrect information regarding Cunningham's rights and duties should he refuse to submit to evidentiary testing.

Id., at 691, 249 P.3d at 885. The Court of Appeals declined to uphold the license suspension and reasoned as follows:

Based on the specific facts of this case, we conclude that the information provided to Cunningham did not comport with that required by I.C. § 18-8002(3) and, therefore, rendered the written and recorded advisory given to Cunningham incomplete. As mentioned above, the officer incorrectly asserted that Cunningham would immediately lose his license should he refuse to submit to testing, that he could only obtain additional evidentiary testing after bonding out of jail, and that he must prove his innocence to the judge at the show cause hearing. The officer conveyed such incorrect information after notifying Cunningham that he "specialized" in DUI testing and that he instructed officers on how to properly administer field sobriety tests. In addition, before answering any of Cunningham's questions, the officer stated that he would explain what the Idaho Code required and what Idaho courts have said about the consequences of a refusal. The officer was adamant that the information he conveyed to Cunningham was the law, even if such information contradicted what was previously contained in the written and recorded advisory. The officer's continuous, repetitive recitation of incorrect information regarding the consequences for refusal rendered the initial advisory incomplete.

We do not intend the holding of this case to require officers to stand mute when answering a driver's questions regarding the information contained in the implied consent advisory. However, the officer's conduct in this case so contradicted the information

provided in the initial advisory that it defeated the purpose of the statute's requirement for such an advisory in the first place. Here, the officer's repeated assertions went beyond mild misstatements or passing inaccuracies, which may occur during an advisory involving a presumably intoxicated driver. The magistrate was therefore correct in declining to suspend Cunningham's driver's license. Thus, we reverse the district court's decision and vacate the suspension of Cunningham's license.

Id.

The Hearing Officer correctly rejected the argument that the Court's decision in *Cunningham* required that the license suspension be vacated. The Hearing Officer wrote:

5. In the *In re Cunningham*, 150 Idaho 687 (App. 2011), decision, the Idaho Court of Appeals ruled that "...[T]he officer's continuous, repetitive recitation of incorrect information regarding the consequences for refusal rendered the initial advisory incomplete." The officer in the *Cunningham* case told Cunningham that the BAC test was the "only opportunity to prove his innocence" and if he refused to take the test his driver's license would be "automatically suspended for one year without exception."

6. In this matter, Officer Fox did not give Satter continuous, repetitive recitation of incorrect information that was described in *Cunningham*. Section 2 of 18-8002A indicates that the information conveyed "need not be verbatim" and given the totality of the circumstances the omitted word of "cause" did not have the same impact that the improper statutory language had in *Virgil*.

CR., at 15. The analysis of the Hearing Officer supported his legal conclusion that "[b]ased on the record and the applicable caselaw, Satter was properly advised of the consequences of refusing or failing evidentiary testing as required by Idaho Code §18-8002 and Idaho Code 18-8002A. *CR., at 16.*

In summary, the verbal advisory given to Satter is distinguishable from *Cunningham*. Officer Fox did not give repeated assertions of Idaho law. Officer Fox did not make continuous, repetitive recitations of incorrect information. At most, Officer Fox made a mild misstatement and/or passed an inaccurate statement when he left out the word "cause" on the re-reading of the advisory. The misstatement by Officer Fox was not sufficient to vacate the license suspension.

In the case of *In the Matter of Virgil*, 126 Idaho 946, 895 P.2d 182 (Ct. App. 1995), the Court affirmed the reinstatement of a driver's license when the written advisory incorrectly stated that the driver would be required to "explain why" he had refused an evidentiary test, when the statute required that the driver was required to "show cause" for his refusal. In *Virgil* the Court of Appeals held that Virgil was not properly advised pursuant to I.C. Section 18-8002(3), because the written advisory used by police "did not properly advise Virgil of his rights and duties under Idaho's implied consent statute, I.C. Section 18-8002." The Court of Appeals explained:

Virgil also challenges paragraph (4)(b) of the advisory form, which notifies the driver as follows: "You have a right to submit a written request within seven (7) days to the Magistrate Court of Twin Falls County for a hearing to explain why you refused to take the tests" (emphasis added). Virgil contends that this provision incorrectly advised him of his burden of proof under I.C. § 18-8002(3)(b). Idaho Code § 18-8002(3)(b) states that a driver whose license is seized must be informed that he or she has "the right to request a hearing within seven (7) days to show cause why he refused to submit to, or complete evidentiary testing" (emphasis added). Virgil argues that the phrase, "explain why," communicates a lower burden of proof than the phrase, "show cause." He also asserts that the latter phrase connotes legal justification or proof which is not conveyed by the phrase, "explain why." We agree.

Our Supreme Court has stated that the term, "cause," as contemplated by I.C. § 18-8002(3)(b), envisions "something more than any reason." Griffiths, 113 Idaho at 372, 744 P.2d at 100, citing *State v. Ankney*, 109 Idaho 1, 704 P.2d 333 (1985). The driver "must establish cause of a sufficient magnitude that it may be fairly said that a suspension of his license would be unjust or inequitable." *Id.*; see also *Matter of Goerig*, 121 Idaho 26, 29, 822 P.2d 545, 548 (Ct.App.1991) ("The burden of proof rests on the defendant to prove physical inability to take the test or to establish another cause of sufficient magnitude to refuse to take the test."). We conclude that the phrase, "show cause," more accurately conveys the driver's burden of proof at the suspension hearing than does the phrase, "explain why." Because the requirements of I.C. § 18-8002(3) are recited "in no uncertain terms," *Beem, supra*, and drivers must be "completely" advised of their rights and duties under that provision, *Griffiths, supra*, we hold that Virgil was not properly advised pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002(3).

Id. at 948, 895 P.2d at 184. The Hearing Officer correctly rejected the argument that the Court's decision in *Virgil* was applicable. The hearing officer stated the following:

2. Counsel for Satter argues Officer Fox did not properly inform Satter regarding the consequences of refusing or failing evidentiary testing when he stopped during the reading of the advisory form and said "show why you failed the evidentiary test" instead of "show cause why you failed an evidentiary test." Counsel contends the *Virgil v. State* decision, 126 Idaho 946 (App. 1995), emphasized the difference between the words "explain why" vs. "show cause" in the statutory language found in the suspension advisory.

3. *Virgil* ruled that the 1995 statutory language regarding refusals in Section 18-8002(3) containing the phrase "explain why" was a lower burden of proof than the phrase "show cause." However, the *Virgil* ruling pertained to the statutory language and Suspension Advisory in use at the time. Both have been amended, as shown by Exhibit 1, a copy of the Suspension Advisory read by Officer Fox and provided to the Petitioner at the scene. Officer Fox read Part 3(B) correctly and said "...show cause why you failed the evidentiary testing" and then lost his place. In rereading the same section, Officer Fox inadvertently omitted the word "cause" in his reading.

CR., at 13.

Here, Satter was not incorrectly advised of the burden of proof. Officer Fox told Satter in the first reading that he [Satter] was required to "show cause why". Therefore, Satter was substantially advised of his rights and duties as required by Idaho law.

B. THE OMISSION OF THE WORD "CAUSE" IN THE RE-READING OF THE ADVISORY WAS A MILD MISSTATEMENT OR PASSING INADEQUACY

Here, Satter was initially advised to "show cause why" and then to "show why" he failed the evidentiary test. The District Court found that "the difference between 'show why' and 'show cause why' is not so great as to warrant reinstating Satter's driving privileges." The District Court went on to explain its reasoning as follows:

In *Virgil*, the court agreed with the driver that "[T]he phrase, 'explain why,' communicates a lower burden of proof than the phrase, 'show cause.' He also asserts that the latter phrase connotes legal justification or proof which is not conveyed by the phrase, 'explain why.'" *Id.* The difference between "explain why" and "show cause" was too great for the court to ignore this improper advisory, especially since it was used both in the written form provided the driver and when read aloud.

Unlike *Virgil*, there is only a minimal difference between the significance of "show why" and "show cause why." While the word *cause* indisputably has an important legal connotation, *show* also has a much stronger meaning than *explain*. "Explain"

suggests that nearly any reason given, without additional proof, is sufficient to rescind a license suspension. “Show” asks more of a driver, and is understood to require additional evidence of their reasoning. Because these two phrases are fundamentally different, a different outcome than *Vigil* is warranted here.

If the phrase “show cause” was never presented to Satter in the advisory, this decision would be the same. “Show why,” especially following the use of “show cause why,” does not fundamentally change the statutory language, and does not render the advisory defective.

CR., at 57-58. Finally, the District Court specifically rejected Satter’s argument. The District Court found the following:

Here, the arresting officer correctly said “show cause why” the first time he read the advisory, but after misspeaking on another part of the sentence, started over and said “show why.” While *Virgil* does call for strict adherence to the statute, and specifically keys in on the phrase “show cause,” the facts here are distinguishable and call for a different result. In *Virgil*, the driver never received a proper advisory, whereas here language in question was read correctly to Satter once and provided to him in written form. See *Virgil*, 126 Idaho at 948, 895 P.2d at 184. Because there were two instances of the correct language used while advising Satter, we turn instead to whether the statement could be considered a mild misstatement or something more.

R., at 55-66. The District Court continued “the misreading of one word by the arresting officer was a passing inaccuracy, and does not render the advisory incomplete.” *R.*, at 57. The District Court stated:

His omission of the word “cause” can be chalked up to a reading error, and Satter has not present sufficient evidence that the omission of “cause” rendered by his advisory incomplete. The slip by the officer falls into the passing inaccuracy category, and does not render the advisory incomplete under *Cunningham*.

R., at 57.

C. NO UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE

Satter argues that he was not substantially informed of his rights pursuant to Idaho Code section 18-8002 and 18-8002A, therefore it was an “invalid advisory form” and based upon a lawful procedure. In effect, Satter argues that because the method of recitation of the advisory

was incomplete, it was based upon an unlawful procedure. This argument was rejected by the Hearing Officer and by the District Court.

The Hearing Officer rejected this argument when he wrote:

In this matter, Officer Fox did not give Satter continuous, repetitive recitation of incorrect information that was described in *Cunningham*, Section 2 of 18-8002A indicates that the information conveyed “need not be verbatim” and give the totality of the circumstances the omitted word of “cause” did not have the same impact that the improper statutory language had in *Virgil*.

The District Court also declined to accept the argument of an unlawful procedure. The District Court wrote “Satter’s argument relies on a finding that he was not substantially informed of his rights pursuant to Idaho Code Sections 18-8002 and 18-8002A.” As previously discussed, Satter was substantially informed of his rights.

Furthermore, if Satter’s argument is that the procedure was unlawful because of the “impact” on Satter, the District Court did not accept this argument. The District Court correctly held:

Neither *Virgil* nor the ALS hearing was the case decided on the impact to the driver, but the impact of the effectiveness of the advisory itself. In *Virgil* and *Cunningham*, the impact described is the effectiveness of the advisory, not the driver’s reliance on the information. As explained above, the advisory here was complete and as such, the Hearing Officer did not decide the case based upon an unlawful procedure.